0 С С Α S I Ο Ν Α Ρ Α Ρ Ε R

REDUCING REGULATORY BARRIERS TO

TRADE: LESSONS FOR CANADA FROM

THE EUROPEAN EXPERIENCE

Occasional Paper Number 18 February 1998



Industry Canada Industrie Canada

0 С С Α S I Ο Ν Α Ρ Α Ρ Ε R

REDUCING REGULATORY BARRIERS TO TRADE: LESSONS FOR CANADA FROM THE EUROPEAN EXPERIENCE

by Ramesh Chaitoo and Michael Hart Centre for Trade Policy and Law Under contract to Industry Canada As part of the Science & Technology Review

Occasional Paper Number 18 February 1998

Canadian Cataloguing in Publication Data

Chaitoo, Ramesh

Reducing regulatory barriers to trade: lessons for Canada from the European experience

(Occasional paper) Text in English and French on inverted pages. Title on added t.p.: Réduction des obstacles réglementaires au commerce. Includes bibliographical references. ISBN 0-662-63339-3 Cat. No. C21-23/19-1998

Europe -- Commercial treaties.
Foreign trade regulation -- Europe.
Canada -- Commercial treaties.
Foreign trade regulation -- Canada.
Hart, Michael, 1944 Canada. Industry Canada.
Title.
Series: Occasional paper (Canada. Industry Canada)

HF1532.92C42 1998 382.9'143 C98-980008-3E

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This paper has benefited from comments of two referees, to whom we are grateful.

The views expressed in this Occasional Paper do not necessarily reflect those of Industry Canada or of the federal government.

Details of the titles available in the Research Publications Program and how to obtain copies can be found at the end of this document.

Comments should be addressed to:

Someshwar Rao, Director Strategic Investment Analysis Micro-Economic Policy Analysis Industry Canada 5th Floor, West Tower 235 Queen Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0H5

Telephone: (613) 952-5704 Facsimile: (613) 991-1261

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
INTRODUCTION 1
OVERVIEW
THEORETICAL APPROACHES TO THE REDUCTION OF REGULATORY BARRIERS TO TRADE
BASIC EU PRINCIPLES RELATING TO THE REDUCTION OF TRADE BARRIERS
STANDARDIZATION IN THE EUROPEAN UNION
EUROPEAN MECHANISMS FOR REDUCING REGULATORY BARRIERS TO TRADE
ENFORCEMENT AND DISPUTE SETTLEMENT PROCEDURES 27
EFFECTIVENESS OF COMMISSION POLICIES TO REDUCE NATIONAL REGULATORY BARRIERS 31
THE RELEVANCE OF EUROPEAN APPROACHES TO CANADA35 Caveats 36 Basic Principles and Judicial Process 39 Improvements to the Decision-Making Process 41 Strengthening the Administrative Process 42
THE CONVERGENCE OR HARMONIZATION OF REGULATIONS AND STANDARDS Standards-Related Barriers Regulatory Barriers 49
CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS
ANNEX I Technical/Regulatory Barriers by Sector
REFERENCES

INTRODUCTION

The modern nation-state involves a pervasive role for government. Over the past century, as national economies have become more integrated, governments have established a range of regulations and institutional structures to achieve various social, economic and other goals. Until recently, national regulatory structures operated on the assumption that most economic activity took place within the confines of the nation-state, and that the limited activity across national frontiers could be addressed adequately through border regimes.

The balance between domestic and international regimes has shifted. The forces of globalization have made it possible to breach the territorial, economic, social and cultural integrity of the nationstate on a daily basis. An increasing share of national economic activity is conditioned by extra-national transactions and influences; few goods and services and little capital and technology are still produced and consumed wholly within a single national economy. The result is that the national regulatory structures so painfully built up over the past century may now serve more as an impediment to harmonious economic development than as an adjunct or facilitator.

Revolutionary changes in communication and information technologies have made economic production a global rather than national process as firms can now disperse economic activity geographically and bring it together electronically. Advances in information-processing technologies, coupled with remarkable progress in bringing down barriers to cross-border trade and investment, have also led to a quantum leap in the internationalization of the economy. Production is steadily being reorganized on a global or regional basis and the nature of extranational transactions reflects this change. This new reality is also reflected in progressive trade liberalization through successive rounds of multilateral negotiations and regional free trade agreements. These factors have put significant pressures on national firms to become more efficient in order to compete in the global market.

Canada first responded to the competitive challenge of globalization by entering into a free trade agreement (Canada-U.S. Free Trade Agreement (FTA)) with the United States in 1988. The

Agreement has resulted in a significant restructuring of domestic production that in aggregate terms is believed to have boosted efficiency and made Canadian firms more competitive as they produce for a larger market. Previously, most production was segmented in small factories or branch plants of U.S. firms that served the Canadian market only, inside high protective tariff walls. The North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) exposed Canadian companies to further competition, but they were able to adjust and benefit from integrated production at the North American level. Over time, most barriers to trade and production will be phased out and all firms will compete in an integrated North American market.

In addition, the completion of the Uruguay Round of multilateral trade negotiations in 1994 and the creation of the World Trade Organization (WTO) have led to further liberalization of international commerce. Canada was a very active participant in this process and continues to play a significant role in the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) where intellectual effort is now focusing on extending the rules to new areas such as investment.

Nevertheless, while most of these changes occurred at the border and were initiated at the federal level, barriers to interprovincial trade have persisted in the domestic market. This discrepancy has added to inefficiencies in the internal market because Canadian producers cannot benefit from economies of scale in many sectors. It has also affected the competitiveness of Canadian manufacturers. The problem is especially evident in 10 areas and an attempt was made to address them in the Agreement on Internal Trade in 1995. This paper focuses on regulatory and standards-related barriers to trade and examines the European approach in this area with a view to inform and perhaps improve the Canadian initiatives. The study first reviews the European Union's (EU) program and institutions for the removal of regulatory barriers to trade, then analyzes their relevance to Canadian attempts to promote the freer flow of goods and services across all provinces and territories. Finally, the paper explores policy options for the Canadian context.

For the purpose of discussion, regulatory barriers will refer to impediments to trade caused by differences in regulations as well as impediments created by differences in technical standards.

Introduction

Although the former is usually obligatory or mandatory, and the latter is generally voluntary, they often both have similar trade effects in the real world because once a standard becomes the *de facto* norm, most manufacturers adhere to the standard.

A regulation is any document that stipulates product characteristics or their related processes and production methods including administrative requirements. A regulation involves mandatory compliance; it is normally imposed by some level of government and is enforceable by law. Regulations might deal with terminology, symbols, packaging or labeling requirements regarding a product, process or production method. A standard is considered a technical specification involving rules, guidelines or characteristics for products or related processes and production methods that has been approved by a recognized standards body for repeated or continuous application. Compliance is not compulsory¹ for a standard.

¹ World Trade Organization. "Agreement on Technical Barriers to Trade." Annex I. See also Economic and Social Committee of the European Communities. *Opinion on Technical Standards and Mutual Recognition.* Brussels, May 30, 1996. (CES 690/96).

OVERVIEW

The primary purpose of the European Union (EU)² is to create an area without internal frontiers in which the free movement of goods, persons, services and capital is ensured among its member states.³ Somewhat similar objectives are stated in Canada's Agreement on Internal Trade, which seeks to "reduce and eliminate, to the extent possible, barriers to the free movement of persons, goods, services, and investments within Canada and to establish an open, efficient and stable domestic market."

The Canadian approach to removing interprovincial trade barriers is based on actions initiated by individual provincial governments within a federation. The European approach reflects a supranational strategy in which independent countries cede some of their sovereign powers to regional institutions and processes. While the language of the European Union's legislation is strong and binding on its members (carried out through regulations, directives and decisions), the language of the Canadian interprovincial trade agreement is weak and relies on persuasion and good intentions on the part of provincial authorities. Within the European Union, the Commission and Court of Justice exercise extensive authority to ensure compliance with the objective of an integrated internal market; within the Canadian economic union, compliance with the internal market agreement remains largely a matter of political will and intergovernmental negotiations.

² The European Communities (EC) originally consisted of the European Economic Community (EEC), established by the Treaty of Rome in 1957, along with the European Coal and Steel Community and European Atomic Energy Community. Some of their institutions were merged in 1965 and they became known as the European Communities, but were commonly referred to as the European Community. In 1986, the Single European Act was introduced with the aim of bringing about a unified internal market. This was modified by the Treaty on European Union (Maastricht Treaty) in 1993, which provided for a European monetary system and created what is now referred to as the European Union. It should be noted that Title II of the Maastricht Treaty also amended the Treaty Establishing the European Economic Community (Treaty of Rome of 1957) with a view to establishing the European Union now consists of 15 members: Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Portugal, Spain, Sweden and the United Kingdom.

³ Treaty Establishing the European Community, Art. 7a.

Like the EC treaty (and the Treaty on European Union or Maastricht Treaty), the Agreement on Internal Trade identifies the harmonization of standards and regulations as one of the principal mechanisms for reducing and/or eliminating barriers to interprovincial trade (Articles 101.3(c) and 405). Similarly, the Agreement uses various terms, such as reconciliation and mutual recognition, to convey the notion of harmonization.

Since the European Commission released its White Paper⁴ on the integrated market in 1985, there has been accelerated progress in fostering a unified European economic space. Physical barriers to the movement of goods have virtually disappeared in the European market, and since 1992 the focus has been on technical/regulatory barriers to trade. Various initiatives are being used to address this problem. In light of the progress made by the European Union in mitigating problems of regulatory barriers to trade, it would be worthwhile to examine the European approaches and analyze whether there are any policy approaches that could be emulated in Canada.

The European Union, with 15 members and a variety of cultural and linguistic traditions, legal systems, and different levels of development, poses a significant challenge to reducing regulatory trade barriers. While the basic purpose of the EU (i.e., the free movement of goods, services, capital and people) suggests that harmonization could be a clear means of reducing barriers, the diversity of EU members has made total harmonization impractical if not impossible. It is therefore not surprising that regulatory strategies have evolved over time from the original Treaty of Rome (1957), through the Single European Act (1986) to the Treaty on European Union (Maastricht, 1993). They include a combination of harmonization and mutual recognition of regulations and technical standards, along with administrative and judicial processes.

⁴ EC. "Completing the Internal Market: White Paper from the Commission to the European Council." June 1985.

THEORETICAL APPROACHES TO THE REDUCTION OF REGULATORY BARRIERS TO TRADE

Much of the debate about policy responses to regulatory trade barriers is couched in terms of regulatory heterogeneity versus harmonization and/or mutual recognition. In a free-trade area or common market, regulatory barriers might stem from divergent national regulations and/or standards that impede the free movement of goods and services across national jurisdictions. In any federal state, differences in regulations at the subnational level have similar effects. The inefficiencies of incompatible or divergent national product regulations and standards are obvious: they distort production patterns, increase unit costs, increase stock-holding costs, discourage business cooperation, and inhibit the creation of a truly national market for industrial and consumer products.

Regulatory diversity is often rooted in varying social traditions, values and economic conditions that may not be well-served by harmonization or recognition of rules developed from different traditions.⁵ In these cases, harmonization might increase social or economic costs. Health and safety regulations are a case in point. Some societies are more risk averse than others and want to protect their consumers from products they consider to be dangerous; other societies might not necessarily consider those products to be harmful. These values can and have been used to impede trade and point to the need for cooperative solutions.

In order to arrive at cooperative relationships among different regulatory jurisdictions, it is clear that more understanding is needed of the benefits and costs of various strategies that link regulations across legal and political borders. One broad approach is "regulatory rapprochement" which concentrates on reducing practical differences between regulations in different jurisdictions, so that as regulations eventually come to resemble each other or have similar effects, a more unified regulatory system evolves.⁶ Three

 $^{^{5}\,}$ See Sykes (1996) for an explanation of the causes of regulatory heterogeneity.

⁶ See Scott H. Jacobs in *Regulatory Cooperation for an Interdependent World*. Paris: OECD, 1994.

particular strategies of regulatory rapprochement operate in OECD countries.

The most rigorous strategy is harmonization, or the standardization of regulations in identical form. The original Treaty of Rome provided for the "approximation" of legislative and administrative provisions of the member states which affected the functioning of the common market (Art. 100). But it proved too difficult to implement.⁷ A less structured approach is mutual recognition, or the acceptance of regulatory diversity as meeting common goals. It is also sometimes referred to as "reciprocity" or "equivalence." The softest option is coordination, or the gradual reduction of differences between regulatory systems, which is often based on voluntary international codes of practice (OECD, 1994). The regulatory policies in the European Union incorporate these three strategies, although in recent years mutual recognition has become the chosen approach.

At the conceptual level, discussion has recently shifted to the notion of regulatory competition and reflects the necessity of free movement of goods, services and investment in a globally integrated international economy (Pelkmans, 1995; Nicolaidis, 1996). Regulatory competition involves the modification of national regulation in response to the real or expected impact of internationally mobile goods, services or factors on domestic economic activity.⁸

Proponents of regulatory competition argue that it is superior to harmonization of regulations in that diversity reduces regulatory costs and competition encourages improvement and innovation in regulation. From this perspective, a policy such as mutual recognition, which preserves diversity, would be preferred.

⁷ Note that the term "harmonization" is rarely used in the EEC Treaty and when it is, it is used interchangeably with "approximation." Some scholars who tried to identify varying degrees of harmonization intended in the Treaty concluded that this could not be done because various terms—common rules, approximation, harmonization, coordination and render equivalent—are used interchangeably in the different languages.

⁸ Sun and Pelkmans (1995).

Theoretical Approaches to the Reduction of Regulatory Barriers to Trade

If regulatory diversity is accepted as a given, the question is really to what extent should mutual recognition be introduced. This is not only the case in an economic union such as the EU; it is also relevant to unitary federal states. California, for example, sets product and environmental regulations and standards that are usually higher than most other American states. It would strongly oppose harmonization of its standards with other jurisdictions across the United States that are less rigorous, and for similar reasons would oppose mutual recognition of those standards. In Canada, regulations and standards also vary across provinces, reflecting different historical or current priorities, preferences or biases in different jurisdictions. The question then rests on the appropriate mechanism for facilitating the movement of goods and services across a common economic space while taking into account the idiosyncrasies of the different subnational jurisdictions.

BASIC EU PRINCIPLES RELATING TO THE REDUCTION OF TRADE BARRIERS

In considering the European regime for reducing regulatory barriers to trade in the common market, it is important to note first of all, that the basis for all such policies is enshrined in the Treaty on European Union. As in the Treaty of Rome, all members of the EU are bound by the following common principles (among others), in Article 3 of the Treaty on European Union:

- the elimination of customs duties and quantitative restrictions on the import and export of goods, *and of all other measures having equivalent effect* [emphasis added]; and
- the approximation of the laws of Member States to the extent required for the functioning of the common market.

These are the two essential rules which impact on the regulatory system in the EU and which condition all processes and institutions in this regard.

More specifically, as pointed out in the White Paper on Completing the Internal Market (par. 67), harmonization of European regulations is mandated by Article 100 of the Treaty of Rome, which empowers the Council to "legislate by Directive for the approximation of the laws, regulations and administrative actions of member states which directly affect the establishment or the functioning of the common market."

The Maastricht Treaty reiterated this principle and amended Article 100 to read as follows:

The Council shall, acting unanimously on a proposal from the Commission and after consulting the European Parliament and the Economic and Social Committee, issue directives for the approximation of such laws, regulations or administrative provisions of the member states as directly affect the establishment or functioning of the common market.

This is further strengthened by Article 100a, which stipulates the following:

The Council shall, acting in accordance with..., adopt the measures for the approximation of the provisions laid down by law, regulation or administrative action in member states which have as their object the establishment and functioning of the internal market.⁹

With respect to the free movement of goods and the issue of product standards, the principle of mutual recognition of national regulations is strongly encouraged in Community law. Mutual recognition of national rules is based on the landmark *Cassis de Dijon*¹⁰ judgment of the European Court of Justice. Under this ruling, any product that is legally put on the market in one member state may freely circulate throughout the Community (Article 30 of the Treaty). This includes mutual recognition of technical specifications and testing and certification requirements. Similar to Article XX of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT), EU member states may derogate from the general principle of Article 30 by virtue of Article 36 in the interest of health, environmental and consumer safety, among others.

While this principle was already being enforced by the courts, in the Single European Act it was written into the EEC Treaty, as amended. The current Article 100b of the Treaty on European Union (Maastricht Treaty) now clearly states that:

The Council, acting in accordance with the provisions of Article 100a, may decide that the provisions in force in a member state must be

⁹ Note that Article 36 permits measures on the grounds of non-economic criteria such as public morality, public security, the protection of the health and life of humans, animals or plants, among others, which would otherwise be contrary to Article 30. However, they are subject to scrutiny by the Community. Measures saved by Article 36 need to be harmonized. The White Paper (para. 68) indicates that in these areas, legislative harmonization would be "confined to laying down the essential requirements" (rather than detailed technical specifications), "conformity with which will allow free movement within the Community".

¹⁰ European Court of Justice ruling 120/78 of February 20, 1979. In this dispute, a German importer was prohibited from importing a French liqueur *Cassis de Dijon*, because its alcohol content was not compatible with German regulations. The French liqueur actually had lower alcohol (15-20 percent) and therefore had been deemed inadmissible by the German authority according to the regulation which "provides that only potable spirits having a wine-spirit content of at least 32 percent" may be marketed in that country. The court ruled that "the requirements relating to the minimum alcohol content of alcoholic beverages do not serve a purpose which is in the general interest and such as to take precedence over the requirements of the free movement of goods, which constitutes one of the fundamental rules of the Community."

recognized as being equivalent to those applied by another member state.

Consequently, the general principle is that goods lawfully manufactured and marketed in one member state must be allowed free entry into other member states. Any exceptions to this rule must be endorsed by the Commission "after having verified that they are not a means of arbitrary discrimination or a disguised restriction on trade" (Article 100a).

In practice, this principle seems to apply to services as well. Neven (1992) points out that the Second Banking Directive established the principle that if a bank can provide a service in one country, its branches can provide the same service across the European Union. He cites the example of variable-interest mortgages that were not allowed in Belgium but were popular in the United Kingdom. The Second Banking Directive effectively allowed British banks to sell these types of banking products in Belgium even though Belgian banks could not do so initially. Eventually, regulatory competition occurred in this sector when Belgian authorities allowed the sale of variable-interest loans.¹¹

The changes in the Maastricht Treaty build on the principles of the Treaty of Rome and on administrative mechanisms to promote the free movement of goods in the EC market. One such mechanism is Directive 83/189/EEC,¹² which requires member states to notify the Commission in advance of all draft regulations and standards concerning technical specifications that they intend to introduce in their own jurisdictions. The legislation allows other member states to comment on the draft to determine whether the

¹¹ Damien Neven. "Regulatory Reform in the European Community." *American Economic Review* 2, May 1992, p. 100. Note, however, that Chapter 3 (Arts. 59-66) contains substantive rules on the provision of services in the common market.

¹² This directive concerning the provision of information on standards and technical regulations was adopted by the European Council in March 1983 and came into effect in January 1985. It is the main instrument for cooperation between the European Union and the standardization bodies (CEN/CENELEC). Apart from the rights and obligations laid down by the Directive for member states, the national standardization institutions also commit to notify the Commission and their counterparts through the CEN/CENELEC secretariat of their standardization programs and draft standards. (See *Common Standards for Enterprises*, p. 38).

proposed regulations or standards contain any aspects likely to create barriers to trade. If there is notification of such, the Commission can routinely require that changes be made to ensure the free movement of goods in the internal market.

Directive 83/189/EEC provides for the following:

- the collection by the European standardization bodies of information from their members concerning their planned and current activity (Arts. 2 & 4);
- requests from national standards bodies to be associated with the work of another body or to have work taken up at the European level (Art. 30);
- a Standing Committee on Technical Regulations and Standards, composed of member state representatives and chaired by the Commission, in whose work the European and national standards organizations could participate (Art. 5);
- requests from the Commission, after consultation of the standing committee, to the European standardization bodies to draw up standards on specific subjects (Art. 6); and
- best efforts by member state authorities to ensure that national standardization did not continue on subjects for which the Commission had requested European standards (Art. 7).

This Directive thus provides a mechanism for facilitating collective scrutiny of national standardization and for initiating European standardization work by Community authorities.

The Directive's notification procedure was recently strengthened by Council Decision 95/3052/EC,¹³ which provides for the implementation from January 1, 1997, of a procedure whereby Member States have to notify the Commission of any measure preventing the free movement of a particular model or type of product lawfully produced or marketed in another Member State where the direct or indirect effect of the measure is a general ban on the goods, a refusal to allow the goods to be placed on the market, the modification of the model or type of product concerned or its withdrawal from the market. This process will promote a quicker solution to problems regarding the movement of goods by either

¹³ Decision of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 December 1995 establishing a procedure for the exchange of information on national measures derogating from the principle of the free movement of goods within the Community. (OJ L 321, 30/12/95).

adjusting the national rules or, if necessary, by amending Community legislation.¹⁴

At the more general level, the annual report by the Commission on the functioning of the Single Market also acts as a monitoring mechanism for identifying barriers to trade in order to arrive at policy responses from the European Council of ministers.

¹⁴ EC Commission. *The Single Market in 1995* (para. 106).

STANDARDIZATION IN THE EUROPEAN UNION

Although mutual recognition is the preferred policy for member states, in many cases Europe-wide standards are being developed by the various standardization bodies through a mandate from the Commission. It is useful to examine the rationale for this strategy.

The Green Paper, which was released in 1990, recognized that a single community market would become a reality for European industry only insofar as common technical standards could be developed at the European rather than national level. It resulted in a new structure, the European Standardization Council, responsible for the overall policy of European standardization. It is made up of representatives of European industry, social groups, standardization bodies, the European Commission and EFTA secretariat.

A European Standardization Board acts as the executive body of the Standardization Council and is responsible for the management and coordination of European standardization. Its membership comprises the officers of the European standardization bodies and the Secretary of the Standardization Council. The European standardization bodies are organized at the European level and are recognized by the Council as being responsible for standardization in their particular field. They enjoy full autonomy in the programming, financing, preparation and adoption of European standards, subject to compliance with the rules of the European Standardization System and to formal agreements with the national standardization bodies.¹⁵ The national standardization bodies carry out particular tasks at the national level on behalf of the European standardization bodies (e.g., public enquiry and expression of national vote). Furthermore, they provide regular information concerning their national activity and comply with "standstill" rules during the development of European standards.

¹⁵ In 1992 the European Council confirmed continued financial aid to the standards organizations so that the required European standards could be prepared. At the same time, CEN and CENELEC decided to reduce their dependence on official sources for their funding; CEN to roughly 25 percent of its total budget and CENELEC to less than 17 percent (*Report on the Progress of European Standardization*, SEC 95 2104).

The three primary standards bodies are the European Committee for Standardization (CEN); the European Committee for Electro-technical Standardization (CENELEC); and the European Institute for Telecommunications Standardization (ETSI). They all work closely together yet each maintains a framework for the programming and acceptance of mandates, the allocation of preparatory tasks, the approval of draft standards for public enquiry, and the final approval of standards. Each organization also has a formal process for liaising with European organizations representing industry and other economic partners. There is also significant cooperation between European standards associations and the relevant international organizations. Since the EU aims to promote international trade in goods and services, European standards are based as far as possible on international norms, with adaptations to suit European conditions. Standardization, testing and certification are mainly conducted by non-governmental organizations.

The European standard is the primary standardization instrument in the European Union. In CEN and CENELEC this is known as an EN, and in ETSI as an ETS. All EU members must ensure mandatory national transposition of the European documents. Both CEN and CENELEC also produce "harmonization documents" (HD) that have slightly less rigorous national transposition requirements. ETSI produces Technical Bases for Regulation (TBR) that have a more or less mandatory status under the Telecommunications Directive. Recently, most CENELEC HDs have been transferred to full European standards, with the full obligation on national members of CENELEC to transpose them as national standards without change. Since 1994, all of CENELEC's documents consist of European standards.

Europe-wide standardization now forms a substantial part of all standardization taking place in Europe, and constitutes an essential link between national and international standardization. European standards organizations appear to give priority to mandated work or work directly related to European public policy.

In spite of the progress made in the overall standards area, there is criticism from industry of the tedious procedures and the long time it takes for a standard to be prepared and adopted. In addition, a tremendous number of standards need to be prepared each year and this further adds to the problem.¹⁶ More than 10,000 standards are in the process of development in 1996 alone. In addition, mutual recognition is not operating smoothly and there is reluctance among some EU members to accept test results and certificates from other members. At the same time, the mutual recognition of proofs of conformity cannot be legally enforced by users.¹⁷

¹⁶ It is estimated that over 50 percent of all standards projects are close to completion. The existing program comprises over 15,000 work items. However, purely national standardization remains strong in construction, foodstuffs and a few other areas. The EU's standardization system has almost 5,000 standards and produces about a further five standards per working day (*Report on the Progress of European Standardizaton*, SEC 95 2104, p. 6).

¹⁷ See "Opinion on Technical Standards and Mutual Recognition." Brussels, May 29, 1996 (CES 690/96).

EUROPEAN MECHANISMS FOR REDUCING REGULATORY BARRIERS TO TRADE

The essence of the European effort to reduce regulatory barriers to trade in the common market was first formally outlined in 1985 in the White Paper. Significantly, a major factor contributing to the completion of the internal market was the removal of "technical barriers" (in addition to physical barriers). The White Paper proposed a new approach to the harmonization of national regulations and standards that would streamline administrative processes and facilitate the movement of goods across member countries. The paper called for the harmonization of industrial standards through the creation of European standards; however, in the interim, it proposed "mutual acceptance of national standards, with agreed procedures".

The new approach to harmonization was also a clear attempt to define broad categories at the level of the Community, instead of procrastinating over intricate details. It was intended to reduce the delays involved in incorporating detailed technical specifications in Commission Directives that required a unanimous vote by the European Council. The pre-1987 approach was to harmonize national standards through Community directives, but the requirement of unanimity from the Council of Ministers frustrated this process. It is widely believed that the "old" approach did not work effectively because of the consensus requirement at the design level; regulations were long delayed and extremely complex as a result of protracted negotiations. Unanimity still exists under the original Article 100, but the Single Act (Article 100a(1) provided that by way of derogation from Article 100, measures affecting the functioning of the internal market could be approximated by qualified majority voting.¹⁸ The harmonization of national legislation continues in cases where legislation creates different levels of protection for the essential requirements of public health/safety,

¹⁸ Harmonization can be effected under other provisions of the Treaty, some of which require unanimity (Art. 99 on indirect taxes), and others (Art. 49 on free movement of workers) a qualified majority. Harmonization of measures relating to free movement of persons and rights of employed persons still require unanimity.

environmental and consumer safety.¹⁹ Where appropriate, Articles 100 and 100a of the Treaty provide for Community-wide harmonization in these areas.²⁰

The White Paper also introduced mutual recognition of national regulations as a regulatory principle: approximation of laws was purposely limited to essential requirements and beyond this mutual recognition would apply. In other words, as long as a product from one member state meets the essential criteria established by the Commission, another member state cannot keep that product from its market on the grounds of additional national stipulations. For example, a German test on "saliva and perspiration for textile" that goes beyond the essential requirement of the relevant EU directive can be challenged if it acts as a trade barrier.

Another mechanism was the devolution of responsibility for formulating product standards to various European standards organizations or producers' associations. Previously, EC directives contained very detailed technical specifications (e.g., precise measuring procedures for noise emissions from lawn mowers). The new approach is more succinct. Community harmonization directives now simply set out the essential requirements. The detailed technical mechanisms for complying with these requirements are outlined in separate, harmonized standards developed by the European standardization bodies (CEN, CENELEC and ETSI). It should be pointed out, however, that the use of harmonized standards is voluntary rather than mandatory.

In the European Union, "harmonized standards" are specifications developed by a European standards organization on

¹⁹ Sun and Pelkmans (1995) argue that even if Article 36 EC-type essential requirements apply, mutual recognition is compulsory if those requirements are deemed to be equivalent among member states, to the extent that national essential requirements are maintained. Moreover, measures must be proportional to the objective sought and least restrictive for free movement.

²⁰ Neven (1992) points out that by November 1991, 217 of the 282 proposals (announced in 1985) for the completion of the internal market had been approved by the European Council, and about 70 percent of those had been implemented in national law. This was exceedingly fast compared to the previous decade, and he argues that the substitution of consensus for qualified majority as a decision rule in the Council was largely responsible for this success.

European Mechanisms for Reducing Regulatory Barriers to Trade

the basis of instructions issued by the Commission under Directive 83/189/EEC and in accordance with the general directives on cooperation between the European standards bodies and the Commission. Once a standard is published in the *Official Journal of the European Communities* and implemented by at least one member state, compliance with the standard assumes conformity with the relevant essential requirements.

In the regulated sector, the circulation of products is governed by laws and regulations to protect consumers. There is a distinction between the harmonized sector governed by EC directives and the non-harmonized sector regulated by national legislation. In the former, conformity with requirements is assessed by authorities recognized by the European Commission. This is due to the safety risks and/or public concerns regarding areas such as food, drugs and chemicals, among others. In the non-harmonized sector, the marketing of products is not governed by similar laws and regulations because the products do not present any danger.

Where Community harmonization for products that involve consumer health and safety (e.g., foodstuffs or pharmaceuticals), the legislation or regulation must be sufficiently detailed to allow no scope for product failure. However, in practice, EU institutions resolve any identified problems with the least form of intervention in the functioning of the market or national regulatory systems.

To further consolidate the "new approach" to harmonization, the EU also adopted a "Global Approach to Conformity Assessment" in 1989. It set out a system aimed at providing a credible, transparent and technically competent framework for conformity assessment, with only minimum interventions to ensure that a product meets adequate levels of health and safety standards.²¹ This system was intended to enable the principle of mutual recognition of proofs of conformity to operate in both regulatory and non-regulatory spheres. The mechanisms for this global approach are based on international practices, using International Standards Organization/International Electrotechnical Commission guidelines.²²

²¹ Council Resolution of 21 December 1989 (*Official Journal.* 90/C 10/01).

²² WTO. *Trade Policy Review Mechanism: European Union 1995,* p. 37.

In sectors regulated by EC directives, the global approach established standard "modules" for testing and certification products. In most cases, manufacturers are offered some level of choice, depending on the level of risk associated with the particular product. This ranges from the most lenient—in which the manufacturer can simply declare that the product meets essential requirements—to the strictest, in which case a third party, such as a nationally approved laboratory, would test and assess the product. Once this process is completed, a manufacturer can affix the European (CE) logo and market its products in all countries in the EU without any need for further national tests or certification.²³

In addition to the basic principles and policies regarding regulatory barriers to trade that have been described, there are two other Community principles that condition the European regulatory approach: subsidiarity and proportionality.

The economics of federalism suggests that any intervention to remedy market failure should be devolved to the lowest level in a multi-tier system of government. Nevertheless, this approach must be qualified where intervention at a local level would be ineffective due to spillover effects, inefficient, adverse to others (beggar-thyneighbour policies) or unnecessary (where the same action would be taken by all Member States anyway). In the EU, these ideas are synthesized in the concept of "subsidiarity" that is enshrined in the Treaty on European Union (Article 3b).

The second important principle that shapes the regulatory framework for the EU's internal market is that of "proportionality." Where Community level action is needed, "proportionality" requires that the measures adopted impose minimum restriction on member state governments and/or market operators that still guarantees effective realization of the regulatory/policy objective. In other words, measures intended to secure a legitimate public policy objective should not go beyond what is immediately necessary to attain that objective.

By limiting Community action to areas where it is strictly justified (subsidiarity) and by selecting the least intrusive legislative

 $^{^{\}rm 23}$ See "Opinion on Technical Standards and Mutual Recognition." (CES 690/96).

European Mechanisms for Reducing Regulatory Barriers to Trade

options (proportionality), the Commission ensures that it does not over-legislate the affairs of its citizens and unnecessarily obtrude in the domain of EU members. In addition, the combination of mutual recognition and subsidiarity provides a framework for competition among rules and regulators. The former ensures that the entire EU market for products and services is open to any member state. The latter, which requires that regulations be made at the lowest possible level of government, allows national regulators wide responsibilities.

In summary, the Internal Market programme initiated by the White Paper takes the existing framework of national regulatory and public policy systems as a given and asks whether there are ways in which diverse national arrangements can be better managed and coordinated. The ultimate aim is to dismantle unnecessary hindrances to cross-border transactions. Therefore, EU legislation needed to complete the internal market should not be considered as a displacement of national legislation; it is a means of creating a convergence of national measures to uphold public policy objectives, while eliminating any obstacles to market access that would arise from the uncoordinated pursuit of these objectives.

ENFORCEMENT AND DISPUTE SETTLEMENT PROCEDURES

The principle of mutual recognition of regulations usually acts to reduce trade barriers for products. However, in the absence of a harmonized standard for a particular product, instances may arrive where it is necessary to resort to dispute settlement measures under the Treaty. In such an event, barriers to intra-EU trade or free movement may exist which inhibit mutual recognition. Such barriers would usually be the result of health or safety requirements which national authorities impose in the absence of EU legislation harmonizing these "essential" requirements.

To understand how the process works, let us assume the example of a Dutch manufacturer who attempts to export computers to France. He is inhibited from doing so because French regulations governing electromagnetic radiation from computer monitors are different from those of the Netherlands.²⁴ The Dutch firm seeking to export to the member state (France) that imposed the restrictions has two options.

First, if the firm considers the regulations an unnecessary barrier to trade, it complains to the European Commission and/or its national government to begin infringement procedures against the offending Member State (under Article 169 or 170 of the EC Treaty).²⁵ If the Commission and the French government fail to reach agreement, the Commission takes France to the European Court of Justice either for violation of Article 30, or for failure to implement Directive 90/270/EEC. Note that the French rule could be valid under Article 30, because it is saved by Article 36, yet still be inconsistent with the Directive. In either case, if the Court finds France in breach of its obligation (to comply with Article 30 or with the Directive), it will order France to rectify the breach. If it fails to

²⁴ Council Directive 90/270/EEC states that "all radiation with the exception of the visible part of the electromagnetic spectrum shall be reduced to negligible levels from the point of view of the protection of workers' safety and health."

²⁵ Usually the Commission would start proceedings under Art. 169, rather than the national government initiating a complaint under Art. 170. Note, however, that many firms, certainly small firms, may not want to incur the cost (financial and other resources) involved in taking their case to the Commission and may first complain to their government, which is required to bring the matter before the Commission.

comply with the Court order (which rarely happens), the Commission will bring further proceedings under Article 171.

Alternatively, the firm defies the French regulation and markets its computers in France. It is prosecuted in France and raises a "Euro-defense." The defense is either that the French regulations are contrary to Article 30, and therefore invalid, or that the computers conform with the Directive, and therefore can be lawfully marketed in France and elsewhere in the EU. The French judge then requests a preliminary ruling from the European Court of Justice (under Article 177). If the Court finds that Article 30, or the Directive, prohibits the regulation complained about, then the French court must apply Community law and disallow the offending French regulation. This is the concept commonly known as *direct effect*.

An important difference between the two processes is that, in the second option, the manufacturer has direct access to the Court, whereas he has to rely on the Commission in the first. Another major difference is that the first option takes, on average, about five years from first complaint to final court ruling; the second process may take as little as a year. Most commentators argue that the most important and distinctive feature of Community law (and perhaps the most effective tool in the integration process) is this concept of direct effect, in conjunction with the preliminary ruling procedure of Article 177. However, in the Canadian context, it is the absence of any form of individually enforceable rights that makes the Agreement on Internal Trade such a weak instrument for market integration, compared to the EC Treaty.

The availability of binding dispute settlement procedures under the jurisdiction of the European Court of Justice acts as a powerful incentive for member states to respect the authority of the Commission and the objectives of various treaty obligations and implementing directives related to harmonization and mutual recognition. After all, it was the European Court, which in the *Cassis de Dijon* case, provided a critically important catalyst toward promoting and achieving a more integrated single market. Since then, it has proven to be a zealous guardian of this objective, adding to the credibility of what has become known as the *acquis communautaire*, i.e., the growing acceptance of EU regulations in the field of product and process standards not only by member states but also by other European states and countries tied to the Union by its network of association and free-trade agreements (OECD 1995).

EFFECTIVENESS OF COMMISSION POLICIES TO REDUCE NATIONAL REGULATORY BARRIERS

Despite various provisions to streamline regulatory processes and to create a convergence of rules and regulations among all members of the EU, there is significant reticence at the national level toward Community-wide approaches. The extent of this reserve was recently emphasized in a special report by the Commission:

The information procedure reveals a cascade of national technical regulations, important as to the number of measures brought forward, their length and their complexity. Despite the achievement of the agreed programme of measures covered by the 1985 White Paper...member states continue to adopt a vast array of national technical regulations concerning products, regulating their specification, the conditions in which they can be used, the tests which they must undergo and the certificates or approvals to which they must be subject...

Some 415 Community directives and regulations currently apply to the placing of products on the Internal Market. It has taken the Community 35 years to achieve such a stock of measures. Indeed, there is some tendency for the total of Community measures to decline, with the introduction of new techniques or regulations, such as the Community's New Approach, which are more economical in terms of their requirements than older methods.

In contrast, in the years 1992-94, the 12 member states together notified proposals for no less than 1136 proposals for technical rules...The number of pages involved is also instructive, as it gives some insight into the comparative complexity of the measures involved in each category. In 1994, the 15 member states put forward some 10,000 pages of regulation. The Commission proposed some 250 pages.²⁶

In its report, the Commission expressed great concern about the proliferation of individual national regulations that work against efforts to harmonize regulations across the Community.

In addition, the *1995 Report on the Single Market* indicates that 258 cases involving obstacles to trade were reported to the Commission in 1995. The main areas in which government measures are likely to affect intra-community trade are road

²⁶ European Commission. "National Regulations Affecting Products in the Internal Market: A Cause for Concern." Brussels, 28 February, 1996. (pp. 6-8).

vehicles, food, chemicals and pharmaceutical and medical products.²⁷ In 1994 and 1995, the greatest number of barriers were in the food and road vehicles sectors. In the case of vehicles, obstacles were caused by the non-application of mutual recognition by vehicle inspectors and different national technical standards. The main problems regarding foodstuffs were caused by national procedures requiring prior authorization aimed at checking the composition of food and especially the presence of food supplements and/or additives.

Another obstacle involves an "upsurge in regulations necessitating the use of national language for certain information found on the labeling of products."²⁸ Interestingly, in examining a complaint against the requirement by Danish legislation that clothing imported and sold under the name of a Danish company or trademark should indicate that it was imported or the country of origin, the Commission found that such labeling rules were equivalent to a restriction on trade between member states and were in breach of Article 30 of the EC Treaty.

The EU responded in 1995 to the Commission's concern regarding persistent barriers to trade caused by national regulations by introducing the procedure mentioned above for exchanging information on national measures that derogate from the principle of the free movement of goods.²⁹ This procedure will strengthen the means available for tackling illegal restrictions on the free movement of goods across jurisdictions and will help to endure that the principle of mutual recognition is respected.

There are also a number of directives designed to replace the national technical regulations governing the construction and operation of motor vehicles. This technical harmonization (Directive

²⁷ The opening of the European Agency for the Evaluation of Medicines should reduce barriers in the pharmaceuticals sector.

²⁸ *The Single Market in 1995.* (para. 78).

²⁹ See Council Decision 95/3052/EC, November 23, 1995. A decision is binding entirely on those to whom it is addressed, but no implementing legislation is required.

70/156/EEC) is to substitute for all national procedures, and its application will enable a vehicle with a Community-type approval certificate to be sold and registered in any Member State, without further technical formalities. It applies not only to the marketing and registration of new vehicles but also to the free movement of all vehicles within the EU.

With respect to the recognition of professional qualifications, the Commission reported that during 1991-94 almost 10,000 European citizens obtained recognition of their diplomas under Directive 89/48/EEC.³⁰ Furthermore, each year about 5,000 citizens benefit from sectoral directives for professions such as doctors, dentists, veterinarians, nurses, midwives, pharmacists and architects. Nevertheless, there was an increase in 1995 of complaints from migrants who had experienced difficulty in obtaining recognition of their certificates or diplomas in their new location. This was partly because only seven Member States have fully transposed the relevant directives into national law, and also because of problems regarding the interpretation of the directives.

The discussion above indicates that the various mechanisms and processes for reducing regulatory barriers to trade in the EU have not yet resulted in a trouble-free market. Nonetheless, as long as the reporting and monitoring procedures operated by the Commission continue, all parties will eventually conform to the requirement of free movement of goods, services, persons and capital in the common market. The legislative, regulatory, and administrative roles of the Commission, which acts as the guardian of the Treaty, the advice of the Economic and Social Committee, and the adjudicatory role of the European Court are all important in this regard.

³⁰ This directive pertains to the recognition of higher education diplomas awarded on completion of professional education and training of at least three years' duration. It was amended in 1992 by Directive 92/51/EEC.

THE RELEVANCE OF EUROPEAN APPROACHES TO CANADA

The EU has developed a comprehensive system for reducing trade barriers in its common market: it combines basic treaty law, administrative processes and judicial principles. Moreover, the individual states have ceded considerable sovereign powers to a supranational process in which final authority is vested, to ensure the operation of the single market. It must be emphasized that the first concern is the free movement of goods, services, capital and people in the EU's economic space. As far as possible, national authorities voluntarily defer to this process as mandated in the Treaty. As noted earlier, all members of the Union adhere to this process because of the possibility of adverse reaction by the Commission or binding judgments by the European Court of Justice.

This is a critical element of the overall strategy to reduce barriers to trade in the EU which is not the case in Canada. As Pelkmans (1996) indicates:

Central to integration within the EU is that there is an *a priori* acceptance of far-reaching market contestability in the framework of the internal market. Not only are the criteria (establishment of freedom of movement as an overriding principle; proper functioning) far more encompassing than in the international arena, but the overall incentives, obligations and systems of sanctions are also without parallel. It is, in fact, quasi-federal, if not in some respects outright federal. This, in turn, is embedded in a philosophy of what is called "pooled sovereignty" and decision making according to the "Community-method." Thus, the behavioural functions of bureaucrats and politicians are shaped (and constrained) by these political and institutional characteristics.³¹

In fact, EU Member States are not totally free to regulate what they wish because the Maastricht Treaty (Article 101) indirectly obliges them to uphold the market economy with free competition by empowering the Council to issue directives to correct distortions caused by law, regulation or administrative action in these states. Sykes (1996) describes the EU regulatory system as "policed decentralisation" in which "regulators in different jurisdictions operate independently and may adopt different substantive

³¹ Jacques Pelkmans, "Removing Regulatory Barriers: The Case of Deep Integration." Paper prepared for OECD Trade Directorate meeting in Paris, February 15, 1996. (TD/TC/(96)9), p. 10.

regulations, but most do so subject to a number of constraints." These consist of the obligations under the Treaty of Rome as administered by the European Court of Justice, and various directives from the Commission. Furthermore, "policed decentralisation" in the EU is subject to strict and detailed judicial review and the ultimate result of this is judicial mutual recognition.

To summarize, in addition to the basic treaty principles that shape the behaviour of individual governments, there are various other mechanisms that prevent national authorities from creating or perpetuating regulatory barriers to trade in the EU. The first is the detailed monitoring, complaints and infringement system run by the European Commission. The second is the work of the Mutual Information Directive Committee that scrutinizes every proposed national economic regulation in draft stage. This committee has the power to stop national legislative processes and it is used routinely every year. Through this procedure, EU member states notified the Commission of 442 measures in 1994 and were required by the Commission to simplify or improve 325 of them in order to minimize the regulatory burden in the internal market.³² Third, member states are prohibited from regulating products (and some services) for which "equivalence" is already regulated at the EU level through approximation directives. Finally, and perhaps most important, the European Court of Justice can penalize national governments that act against the spirit of the Treaty in a manner that restricts or inhibits the movement of goods in the common market.³³

Caveats

To understand the relevance to Canada of European approaches to reducing regulatory trade barriers, it is important to note some caveats. First, Canada's federal system is very different from the EU in that Canadian provinces and territories were never sovereign states. Although the similarities are sometimes assumed,

³² EC, "Comments of the Commission on the Report of the Independent Experts Group on Legislative and Administrative Simplification." SEC(95)2121.

³³ Article 171 stipulates that if the Court of Justice finds that an offending member state has not complied with its judgement it may impose a lump sum or penalty payment on it. The Court is also the ultimate arbiter with respect to interpretation of the Treaty and Commission directives (Art. 177).

many of the challenges in creating an economic union in Europe stem from the fact that the Community consists of separate political entities with several different languages. The regulatory barriers in Canada originate in very different circumstances. In some areas of government activity, there are no interprovincial barriers equivalent to those that needed to be overcome in the European context, while in others barriers developed gradually as a result of the assignment of jurisdictions in the constitution. For example, there are very few restrictions on capital movement in Canada and no fiscal barriers among provinces. Many important sectors of the Canadian economy are wholly within federal jurisdiction, and providers thus face no internal barriers to serving customers anywhere in Canada. A sector like telecommunications, for example, which is only now being harmonized in Europe, was always under federal jurisdiction with rules and regulations that apply equally across Canada. Similarly, most regulations concerning health and food safety are regulated by Agriculture Canada and Health Canada, especially with respect to food additives.³⁴

Various commentators have identified flaws in the Agreement on Internal Trade that constrain the prospects for meaningful changes toward a truly national market in Canada or represent a retrograde step.³⁵ The Agreement proceeds on the basis of the conceit that negotiations among provincial governments are analogous to negotiations among sovereign states. The result is an approach that might have been necessary to achieve progress in the context of the GATT, for example, but which seems perverse within the confines of a single nation. To treat the agreement to reduce regulatory barriers as "concessions" to be traded and bargained away was to elevate them to a level of legitimacy that is likely to have embedded them further into the political economy of the country. The repeated failure of the constitutional process to address the conundrum of a splintered national market, however,

³⁴ However, regulations concerning phytosanitary matters are under provincial jurisdiction. Pesticides, on the other hand, operate under a mixed regime in which a federal agency regulates approval, use and safety, and seven provinces maintain some sort of regulatory role with respect to their sale and application through either their ministry of Agriculture or the Environment.

³⁵ See M. Trebilcock and D. Schwanen (eds.). *Getting There: An* Assessment of the Agreement on Internal Trade. Toronto: CD Howe Institute, 1995.

may have made this process more attractive. Nevertheless, it is something to be regretted.

At the same time, the "internationalization" of an internal process has inadvertently strengthened the legitimacy of making a comparative analysis of the Canadian intra-national versus the EU international experience. While there are valuable lessons to be learned, it is important to keep in mind the fundamental distinction between efforts to create a single market out of a large and diverse group of national economies on the one hand, and to reverse the splintering taking place within an already existing single national market on the other.

It is also important to remember that, in some instances, economic barriers within Canada have been mandated by federal laws and policies. For example, federal programs in supplymanaged sectors such as dairy and poultry help to segment the agriculture market into provincial enclaves, further complicating the process of integrating the Canadian internal market.³⁶ It is wholly within the power of the federal government to remove those programs and policies and thus facilitate efforts to create a stronger economic union within Canada.

Putting aside the peculiarities of the Agreement on Internal Trade, this study confines its analysis to those deficiencies in the Agreement that relate to regulatory and standards-related barriers. It is in the area of "technical barriers" to trade where Canada's similarity with the EU is most evident. This is due to the fact that, historically, the provinces have exercised control over the regulation of domestic commerce.³⁷ Thus, notwithstanding the fundamental differences between the EU and Canada, there is some utility in considering the relevance of some of the European approaches as a basis for the further reduction of regulatory barriers to trade and improvement in the Agreement.

³⁶ Note that the chapter on Agriculture and Food Goods in the Agreement "applies only to measures identified as technical barriers to trade by the Federal-Provincial Agri-Food Inspection Committee."

³⁷ For background on the constitutional issues relating to this, see D. Brown and M. Smith, *Canadian Federalism: Meeting Global Economic Challenges?* (1991).

Basic Principles and Judicial Process

In the European Union, the role of the European Court as the ultimate arbiter of justice and interpreter of the Treaty is important. In Canada, access to a similar court to remedy breaches of the Agreement might be the most effective means of avoiding and resolving problems regarding regulatory barriers to trade among provinces. The problem is securing agreement to legally enforceable rules. The Supreme Court of Canada is a natural option, but the provinces were unprepared to extend this power to the Supreme Court or any other judicial body because they apparently deemed trade barriers to be political rather than judicial issues. Because the Agreement on Internal Trade is conceived as a trade agreement among governments rather than a set of rules within one country, its enforcement procedures are based on *governments* consulting and seeking redress rather than on courts responding to the complaints of aggrieved individuals. The EC, from the beginning, recognized the importance of access to redress outside a political body by establishing a court and providing individuals with access to that court. In the Canadian context it would be very difficult and perhaps not feasible to introduce a court to ensure that the aims of the Agreement on Internal Trade are not compromised. This would entail major attitudinal changes among provincial governments and a fundamental rethinking and retooling of the Agreement.

First, the language of the Agreement does not exert a firm commitment on the parties to ensure that their regulations will not impede the internal movement of goods and services. In fact, the Agreement allows a party (i.e., a province) to adopt or maintain any regulatory measure or regulatory regime that it considers necessary or appropriate to achieve a legitimate objective, and it does not bind the party to ensure that the regulation does not act as a trade barrier:

Each Party shall, in developing a new regulatory measure or regulatory regime, *seek* to ensure that the measure or regime is not more trade restrictive than necessary to achieve a legitimate objective.³⁸ [emphasis added]

³⁸ Agreement on Internal Trade, Annex 405.2 (5).

One would be hard pressed to find a softer commitment. It echoes back to the early, tentative steps taken during the Tokyo Round GATT negotiations leading to the first multilateral agreement governing technical barriers to trade. The new Uruguay Round Agreement exerts more discipline than the Agreement on Internal Trade.

The Agreement can benefit a great deal from the basic principles of the Treaty on European Union. The most obvious advantage of the European model is the strong, overriding principle of the free movement of goods and services that mandates mutual recognition of regulations. The Agreement on Internal Trade can be substantially strengthened by the inclusion of language such as Article 100a of the Treaty on European Union (see above). This could solidify mutual recognition of regulations across Canada and ensure that minor differences in regulations and administrative requirements or product standards do not inhibit the free movement of goods.

The Agreement could also be strengthened by providing for an effective system of legal supervision and for prohibitions against measures that impede trade. Instead of offering such a judicial process, the Agreement simply provides for consultations with no requirement for mandatory change or harmonization:

Where differing regulatory measures or regulatory regimes of several Parties operate to create a substantial obstacle to internal trade, the affected Parties shall jointly conduct a review of the aspects of the regulatory measures or regulatory regimes that are creating the obstacle.³⁹

Furthermore, although the Agreement requires that new regulatory measures be not "more trade restrictive than necessary", it excludes regulatory measures from the dispute settlement procedures.⁴⁰

By contrast, the EU's experience clearly demonstrates that the most effective approach is a mandatory and binding system of

³⁹ Agreement on Internal Trade, Annex 405.2 (9).

⁴⁰ Paragraph 10 of Annex 405.2 states that "Chapter Seventeen (Dispute Resolution Procedures) does not apply to this Annex."

dispute settlement (i.e., the European Court of Justice) in the event of trade conflicts. Therefore, at the least, regulatory barriers to trade must be brought under the dispute settlement chapter of the Agreement. It was a great mistake to exclude this in the original Agreement. In the absence of strong, definitive principles proscribing trade-inhibiting regulations, and the lack of a binding judicial process, it is critically important that regulatory conflicts be subject to the dispute panel process of the Agreement.

Improvements to the Decision-Making Process

The fact that the Agreement contains a reaffirmation of constitutional powers and responsibilities (Article 300) indicates that the provinces continue to guard their prerogative over internal trade matters under the constitution. Although strictly speaking, Section 91 of the Constitution gives the federal parliament jurisdiction over interprovincial trade, as a practical matter, Section 91 does not provide the federal government with authority over a wide range of provincial regulations and measures that may affect interprovincial trade. Considering the political realities of Canada's weak federal structure and the pride provincial governments take in their power over domestic trade, the provinces will be reluctant to cede any powers to the federal government or any federal institution. The federal government has no special status in the Agreement and has no extra influence on the progress being made in implementing commitments under it. There is therefore no leader in the process of interprovincial trade liberalization, like the European Commission in Brussels. An efficient Committee on Internal Trade is therefore critical to the future success of the Agreement in order to ensure that the goal of a truly unified Canadian market in the long run.

At present the Committee on Internal Trade can only make decisions or recommendations by consensus. This means that controversial changes will be very difficult to implement. The experience of the European Council of Ministers in recent history is testimony of this; however, it is worth recalling that when it became clear that consensus voting was inappropriate for meaningful policy changes, the process was changed to qualified majority voting in the Single Act. Decisions on most matters except for amendments to the Treaty can be carried by a 70 percent majority. For the sake of efficiency, and in order to ensure that meaningful policy changes can be implemented, Canada's Committee on Internal Trade would do well to replicate this strategy.

Strengthening the Administrative Process

Given the volume of transactions in the common market, it is noteworthy that relatively few cases involving regulatory or administrative barriers to trade reach the European Court. The regulatory, monitoring and administrative role of the European Commission is usually sufficient to deal with most disputes. Like the Commission, the Internal Trade Secretariat could perform a critical role as guardian of the Agreement and ensure that regulatory processes of provincial authorities do not inhibit the free movement of goods and services across all provinces. This will not necessarily entail the creation of a large bureaucracy similar to that of the European Commission because there is a longer history of national traditions in Canada. Nevertheless, it will require an amended mandate and more personnel.

The purely administrative, almost secretarial, function of the Secretariat is a major constraint on its ability to play an influential role in containing or flagging regulatory barriers to trade among the provinces. Provincial ministers could request the Secretariat to perform tasks that go beyond administration and include policy making. In this way the role of the Secretariat may evolve in the future. Indeed, this should be encouraged in order to formulate a holistic understanding of the status of internal trade in Canada. If properly equipped, the Secretariat can act as watchdog and mediator to pursue the goals of the Agreement in the same way that the European Commission safeguards the principles of the European Union and monitors the proper functioning of the common market. But this would require a significant increase in resources and personnel to perform these tasks. However, since there is no full-time mechanism at this time to further the goals of the Agreement, it is surely evident that there is need for greater capacity by the Secretariat.

Under the current regime, all notifications of barriers to trade must be resolved bilaterally between the concerned provinces. A supplier or firm which is unable to sell its product in another province must contact its provincial government which in turn consults with the province whose regulation is posing a trade barrier. The problem is then solved by means of bilateral negotiations that may often involve non-transparent processes. This is costly in terms of time and financial and human resources.

In international economic relations, a patchwork of bilateral deals is less efficient than a consistent multilateral process. The same applies to the domestic Canadian context. The recent dispute between Ontario and Quebec regarding construction workers is a case in point.⁴¹ Under the current framework, the approach to promoting the free movement of goods, services and personnel across provinces could become a patchwork of bilateral deals rather than a single national process. The principles used to solve the dispute regarding labour mobility in the construction industry should apply in a similar dispute between any two other provinces, instead of ad hoc solutions. Over time, these cases should be documented and should establish precedence for future dispute resolution. In order to ensure impartiality and consistency in this process of consultation and dispute resolution, the process should be insulated from political influences by having the Internal Trade Secretariat play a central role in monitoring and mediating the deliberations. The European process owes some of its success to the mediation and regulatory roles of the Commission.

⁴¹ After many years of complaints, the Quebec government agreed in a bilateral agreement with Ontario in October 1996 to exempt Ontario contractors from Quebec competency examinations, eliminate the duplicate certification procedure for Ontario construction workers, eliminate administrative fees charged to Ontario workers and recognize certain compulsory and voluntary trades for which competency has been established.

THE CONVERGENCE OR HARMONIZATION OF REGULATIONS AND STANDARDS

In the EU, regulations that explicitly discriminate against a product or person in one member state are forbidden by the EC Treaty. National regulations that are formally non-discriminatory, but that *effectively* discriminate and inhibit the free movement of goods (e.g., the German beer purity law) are usually struck down by the Court of Justice and mutual recognition normally applies. In cases where national regulations affect the functioning of the common market (but are saved by Article 36), the Commission resorts to harmonization through directives. Alternatively, if the problem is related to standards, then the Commission will request that a European standard be established. Such an approach is feasible in Canada but it will require some changes to the current regime for managing standards nationally. Historically, provincial authorities have been free to introduce regulations of their choice. In addition, standards that were developed by national standardization bodies were adopted on an *ad hoc* basis by provinces and adapted to their needs with little concern about uniformity and consistency across Canada. In the current context, it is somewhat perverse to find that it is easier in some cases to import products into Canada than it is for certain goods to move from one province to another.

It is not clear what types of barriers are most common in Canada, especially in terms of standards or regulations⁴² (see Annex I for a list of identified barriers). Canadian government officials cite standards as a major obstacle to interprovincial trade. Easson (1995) also argues that "the most serious obstacles to free movement within Canada are attributable to differences in standards." However, the Standards Council of Canada believes that regulatory requirements, not product standards, are the greater problem. This is due to the fact that most standards are supposedly

⁴² Some confusion may arise from the definition of standards versus regulations. According to the AIT, a "measure" is "any legislation, regulation, directive, requirement..." A standard is defined as "a specification, approved by a Party or by a recognized body, including those accredited as members of Canada's National Standards System, that sets out the rules, guidelines or characteristics for goods or related processes and production methods, or for services, service providers or their related operating methods" (Art. 200). Therefore, a measure includes a regulation. But a "regulatory measure" is defined as a measure that does not contain a standard (Art. 407).

national, not provincial. There are five standards-setting groups in Canada: the Canadian Standards Association (CSA); the Canadian Gas Association (CGA); the Underwriters Laboratories of Canada (ULC); the Bureau de normalisation du Québec (BNQ); and the Canadian General Standards Board (CGSB). There are also 200 accredited laboratories, 11 certification organizations and 14 accredited registration bodies. They are all considered part of a putative unified standards system which is national in scope.⁴³ Some commentators therefore argue that the problem may lie in standards-related measures or regulations that cite particular standards.

Standards-Related Barriers

There is a need for a mechanism to coordinate in a thorough manner the development of standards in Canada so that they are compatible or equivalent across all subnational jurisdictions. There is no reason why most standards in Canada should not be national. The Agreement refers to "Canada's National Standards System" as an entity and defines a national standard as any standard approved by the Standards Council of Canada. It also requires parties to "establish mechanisms to consult and cooperate on matters relating to standards and standards-related measures." There is an implicit assumption that parties will do this on their own. Furthermore, in addressing the question of harmonization of standards, the Agreement is very vague:

Where a Party, in pursuing a legitimate objective, has or establishes a level of protection that is the same as that of another Party, the affected Parties shall endeavour to adopt a harmonized standard or standards-related measure in respect of that objective.⁴⁴

This offers little more than a piecemeal approach to the harmonization of standards across twelve jurisdictions and will prove neither efficient nor timely. Ideally, the Standards Council should be formally entrusted with the task of documenting which standards need to be harmonized, similar to its EU counterpart. It would be an independent, arm's length body with expertise in the area of

⁴³ Interview with Elva Nilsen of the Standards Council of Canada.

⁴⁴ Annex 405.1 (17).

standards. This is critical in light of the fact that the Agreement seems to attach particular importance to standards, judging from the language used and the detailed treatment of this subject.⁴⁵

The Canadian Standards Association has encouraged all standardization bodies to try to develop national standards; however, provincial authorities can fail to adopt them. All provinces make reference to CSA standards for electrical products but some provinces accept electrical products from overseas that do not meet CSA standards. There is a national plumbing code that is used by all provinces, and a building code which was developed by the National Research Council. Nevertheless, there is no truly national standard for building codes, and variations can create problems. Building regulations are a provincial responsibility under the Canadian Constitution. Ontario recently released its own new building code that is an adaptation of the NRC code. Meanwhile, the city of Vancouver is thinking of adopting the U.S. plumbing code instead of the Canadian code. This has raised concerns among industry because if Vancouver adopts U.S. plumbing standards, it will create obstacles for Canadian manufacturers trying to sell plumbing equipment in Vancouver.

The problem of incompatibility in the building sector stems from the fact that the codes developed by the NRC do not state performance aspects (insulation, etc.). This is the area especially where differences across provinces emerge. On the positive side, the Government of Manitoba has stated that it will adopt national codes in the future without modifying them. This approach should be emulated by all provinces.⁴⁶

The CSA has indicated that it wants a truly national strategy for standardization in order to promote national competitiveness. It points out that most OECD countries have a national strategy. The CSA stresses that the biggest concern in the standards area is the possible breakdown of the national standards system in Canada.

⁴⁵ Note that Easson (1995) argues that perhaps the authors of the Agreement may have considered standards as a more serious obstacle to trade than other types of laws or regulations.

⁴⁶ Interview with Richard Desserud of the National Research Council.

This is partly due to the current agenda of budget reductions at all levels of government. For example, provincial representatives find it difficult to attend CSA meetings because of a lack of funds for travel costs. In fact, Ontario representatives cannot travel out of the province.⁴⁷

In principle, standards are voluntary rather that compulsory, but industry works with them. Standards act as barriers when a regulation refers to them, and they are sometimes cited in regulations. The federal government, through an initiative by the Treasury Board, is promoting the notion of using international standards in government operations and is trying to encourage departments to use existing national or international standards. The Treasury Board also believes that product standards are largely compatible across Canada and that the problem areas are essentially labour mobility and certification issues.

The European standardization strategy is not quite applicable to Canada because of the complex combination of supranational and national structures. Nevertheless, it demonstrates that a clear, unified standardization system is necessary to ensure compatibility of products across any economic space. On the Canadian domestic front, there is already the basic structure of a national standards system. It simply needs clearer definition and acceptance by all provinces.

While the Agreement on Internal Trade did not create a centrally coordinated, national standardization strategy, it does appear to require mutual recognition and/or harmonization of standards over time. Such a process will depend on continued negotiations and will be influenced by local interest groups instead of efficiency in national production and overall consumer welfare. This further indicates that mutual recognition should be given as much priority in Canada as in the European Union. Experience around the world suggests that it is too difficult to harmonize standards across jurisdictions yet it is quite possible to recognize standards that are equivalent. Indeed, in Canada, all testing, certification and registration bodies are approved by the Standards

⁴⁷ Interview with Peter Rideout of CSA. Incidentally, the United Kingdom has a national standards system based on ISO 9000.

Council of Canada. Furthermore, as in the EU, if a product, process, safety/health and environmental standard is good enough for consumers in one province, it should be good enough for consumers in all provinces.

It would be worthwhile to give the Standards Council of Canada the mandate and resources to oversee the creation of a truly national standardization strategy through the Agreement on Internal Trade. The Council is also best gualified to indicate what is needed to reconcile standards across Canada. Furthermore, the recent amendment to the Standards Council of Canada Act gives the Council new powers to provide advice and assistance to the Government of Canada in the negotiation of standards-related aspects of international trade agreements, and to make recommendations without limitation to the Minister of Industry on standards-related matters. In addition, a new Provincial-Territorial Advisory Committee would allow the Council to assist more effectively in the removal of internal trade barriers. The Council should therefore be given the formal authority and the necessary resources to participate in all provincial ministerial meetings on internal trade and to advise those groups.

Regulatory Barriers

Although no formal inventory of regulatory barriers to trade across provinces exists, there is strong indication from many companies that differences in regulations across provincial jurisdictions make it difficult to conduct their business on a national scale. A study by the Conference Board in 1992 involving 50 companies⁴⁸ reveals that a multitude of barriers exist that inhibit efficient production and distribution in Canada. It cites such barriers as preferential provincial procurement policies; incompatible regulations governing pharmaceuticals; differences in professional registration and licensing; divergent food inspection regulations; and labour mobility restrictions. The study suggests that differences in regulations among provinces are more critical than standards.

⁴⁸ S. Loizides and M. Grant, "Barriers to Interprovincial Trade: Fifty Case Studies." Conference Board of Canada. April 1992.

Many of these barriers would virtually disappear overnight if all provinces and territories were to implement policies for the mutual recognition of similar regulations and technical requirements as stated in Article 101(c) of the Agreement on Internal Trade and reiterated in five specific chapters. Alternatively, in areas where regulations or product standards vary significantly, there should be harmonization of those measures based on some essential criteria; currently there is no central mechanism or organization to facilitate these processes. There is also no mechanism in the Agreement for outlawing current provincial regulations or requirements that contravene the main objective of the Agreement, which is to "reduce and eliminate, to the extent possible, barriers to the free movement of persons, goods, services and investments within Canada."

One European mechanism that could be extremely useful in Canada is a mandatory notification system for new regulations (similar to 83/89/EEC). It would allow other provinces to comment on the drafts and ensure that the province enacting the regulations takes these comments into account in the final regulation. In addition, the Internal Trade Secretariat should be empowered to scrutinize all such regulations to ensure that they do not contravene the principles of the Agreement on Internal Trade. This is particularly effective in pre-empting future regulatory barriers to trade although it cannot address current regulatory impediments to the flow of goods and services. Clearly, current regulations that act as barriers to trade must also be addressed. This can be accomplished through the mutual recognition of regulations and it is therefore critical that this approach be actively pursued by the Committee on Internal Trade.

Labour mobility remains a salient issue although it is encouraging that the Forum of Labour Market Ministers (through a Coordinating Group) has started the process of working towards reconciling differences in regulations governing professional occupations across Canada in line with the Agreement on Internal Trade. Similar initiatives are under way in the areas of consumer affairs, transportation, the environment, investment and procurement. In September 1996, provincial ministers responsible for consumer affairs agreed in principle to adopt proposals for harmonization in several consumer areas.⁴⁹ Similarly, in November 1996, the Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment announced a "Canada-wide Accord on Environmental Harmonization" that is intended to develop and implement consistent environmental measures in all jurisdictions. The intention is to achieve overall harmonization of environmental policies, standards, objectives, legislation and regulations over three years. There is also some progress at the level of officials, toward extending rules on procurement to municipalities, academic, health and social service entities, and some sort of agreement is expected in 1997. But agreements in principle only express good intentions; it remains to be seen whether, and how quickly, real action will occur.

⁴⁹ The proposals include a standard contract for direct sales across Canada and a standard disclosure on all forms of credit.

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

In the final analysis, Canadians seem to have had less success in reducing regulatory barriers to trade in 130 years than Europeans who have been working together toward a common market for about 40 years. In Canada, trade liberalization measures instituted at the federal level have helped business address the challenges of globalization; but efforts to date internally, are feeble. Internal regulatory reforms seem less concerned with general welfare or economic efficiency and more with the concerns of interest groups. The Agreement on Internal Trade is only a first step in the task to reduce regulatory barriers but the lesson from the European Union is clear: political commitments are not good enough; legal provisions are needed in order to ensure that future governments do not reverse earlier reform efforts.

To strengthen the liberalization process in Canada, this paper recommends that the following actions be taken:

- The decision-making process of the Agreement on Internal Trade be changed from consensus to a qualified majority vote.
- The Committee on Internal Trade be empowered to adopt measures for the mutual recognition of regulations and administrative actions of Members to promote the free movement of goods and services in Canada, by the addition of a clause to the Agreement on Internal Trade similar to that of the Treaty on European Union (Article 100a).
- The Internal Trade Secretariat, in conjunction with the Standards Council of Canada, be given a formal role in the Internal Trade Agreement to promote conformity of standards and regulations nationally, to assess whether all new standards and regulations of Members conform with the aims of the Agreement, and to advise the Committee on Internal Trade on these matters.
- A mandatory notification system for new regulations be introduced in the Agreement on Internal Trade to allow other provinces and territories to comment on draft regulations and

to ensure that the authorities enacting the regulations take the comments of interested Parties into account in the final regulations.

- Annex 405.2 of the Agreement on Internal Trade be amended by the deleting paragraph 10 so that the dispute resolution procedures apply to regulatory measures and regimes. While this change falls far short of the European provisions, it should give some impetus to the mutual recognition and reconciliation process in Canada. Otherwise, there is no incentive in the Agreement to reduce regulatory barriers.
- Some attempt be made to ensure the effective enforcement of the Agreement by conferring rights on *individuals* and not only on provincial governments. The European experience makes this requirement quite clear.

At a more general level, the segmentation of the Canadian market should be eliminated as soon as possible. In this regard, both provincial and federal programs and regulations that prevent the formation of a national market for products and services should be phased out. It would be wise for the relevant authorities to begin the process of dismantling the supply management system for dairy, poultry and eggs to enable Canadian producers to compete with foreign producers by the time agricultural tariffs fall to the low levels intended in the WTO Agreement on Agriculture.

The competitive challenges of globalization dictate that the inefficiencies caused by regulatory barriers to trade in the Canadian market be eliminated. If all levels of government in Canada do not act to address these challenges, in the long run the barriers will be detrimental to both Canadian consumers and producers. It is therefore worthwhile to take the bold steps and make the policy changes now rather than later in order to minimize the pains of adjustment.

ANNEX I Technical/Regulatory Barriers by Sector

Agriculture/Food Products

Marketing boards and local content requirements; Differential markups; Distribution restrictions; Licensing requirements; Different standards/grading/regulations; Lack of harmonization among federal and provincial laws and regulations regarding packaging and labeling (dairy, alcoholic beverages and processed foods); Enforcement re standards and grading; and Market share quotas for industrial milk.

Consumer Health and Safety

Different labeling of products across provinces; Provincial government listing of pharmaceutical products under health plans; and Certified training programs for food handlers.

Environment

Lack of harmonization of federal and provincial regulations; and Regulation of pulp mill effluents.

Investment

Corporate registration and licensing requirements including fees and absence of reciprocity;

Requirements to establish provincial production facilities in order to supply government or obtain local financing (medical devices, forest products, construction and food services); and

Provincial controls over out-of-province investment in real estate or strategic industries.

Manufacturing

Different provincial standards and regulations; Licensing requirements; Distribution restrictions; Regional development/provincial subsidy programs; Log export policies in forest products sector; Provincial markings on cigarettes; and Refillable versus recyclable bottling regulations.

Services

Licensing requirements; Discriminatory tendering practices; Differing licensing, weight/load restrictions and vehicle registrations; Requirements for interprovincial movement of construction vehicles; Local trade union hiring restrictions; Limiting publication of project tender; and

Advertisement in local geographic areas.

Transportation

Differing technical standards and regulations (vehicle weights and limits and safety);

Quantitative restrictions on trucking; and

Limits on interprovincial bus travel.

56

REFERENCES

Burn, Doug. "The Regulatory Climate in Canada: Reducing the Regulatory Burden on Food Manufacturers, a Progress Report." *Food in Canada.* April 1996.

Commission of the European Communities. Annual Report on the Internal Market. 1992, 1993, 1994, 1995.

____. Additional Opinion of the Economic and Social Committee on Technical Standards and Mutual Recognition. Brussels, 29 May, 1996. CES 690/96.

____. Commission Green Paper on the Development of European Standardization: Action for Faster Technological Integration in Europe. COM/90/456.

_. Comments of the Commission on the Report of the Independent Experts Group on Legislative and Administrative Simplification. Brussels, 29.11.1995. SEC(95)2121.

____. Council Directive of 28 March 1983 laying down a procedure for the provision of information in the field of technical standards and regulations. 83/189/EEC.

___. National Regulations Affecting Products in the Internal Market:

A Cause for Concern. 28 February, 1996. Doc. 16/96-EN.

____. Opinion of the Economic and Social Committee on the Annual Report on the Functioning of the Internal Market. Brussels, 14 September, 1994. CES 999/94.

____. Opinion of the Economic and Social Committee on the Report from the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament on the Single Market in Europe in 1995. Brussels, 29 May, 1996. CES 698/96 F/AG/ss.

____. "The Obstacles Remaining to the Completion of the Market Without Borders According to an Enquiry by the Economic and Social Affairs Committee." *Bulletin Quotidien Europe.* No. 1903, 14 October, 1994.

_____. Report from the Commission on the Operation of Directive 83/189/I EC in 1992, 1993 and 1994.

____. Report of the Group of Independent Experts on Legislative and Administrative Simplification. Vol. II, Working Documents. Brussels, 2.08. 1995. SEC(95)1379.

. Completing the Internal Market: White Paper from the Commission to the European Council. June 1985.

__. *The EU Internal Market Forum.* (1993 Situation Report). Economic and Social Consultative Assembly. Brussels, 1995.

__. *Making the Most of the Internal Market: Strategic Programme.* COM(93) 632, Brussels 22, December 1993.

_____. *The Single Market in 1995*—Report from the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament. Brussels, 20.02.1996 COM(96) 51.

- Dinan, Desmond. An Ever Closer Union? An Introduction to the European Community. Boulder: Lynne Rienner Publishers, 1994.
- Duff, Andrew et al. (eds.). *Maastricht and Beyond: Building the European Union*. London: Routledge, 1994.
- Hoeller, Peter and Marie-Odile Louppe. *The EC's Internal Market: Implementation, Economic Consequences, Unfinished Business.* Paris: OECD, 1994. Economics Working Papers No. 147.
- Jacobs, Scott H. "Regulatory cooperation for an interdependent world: issues for government." in OECD. *Regulatory Cooperation for an Interdependent World*. Paris, 1994.
- Lenihan, Donald G. "When a Legitimate Objective Hits an Unnecessary Obstacle: Harmonizing Regulations and Standards in the Agreement on Internal Trade" in M. Trebilcock and D. Schwanen (eds.). *Getting There: An Assessment of the Agreement on Internal Trade*. Toronto: C.D. Howe Institute, 1995.
- Minet, Paul. *Full Text of the Rome Treaty and an ABC of the Common Market*. London: The Free Press Ltd., 1962.
- Leslie, Peter M. *The Maastricht Model: A Canadian Perspective on the European Union*. Institute of Intergovernmental Relations, Research Paper No. 33. Queen's University, 1996.
- Neven, Damien J. "Regulatory Reform and the Internal Market." Paper presented at the OECD symposium on *Regulatory Reform and International Market Openness*, Paris. July 9-10, 1996.
- Neven, Damien. "Regulatory Reform in the European Community." *American Economic Review* 2. May 1992, pp. 98-103.
- Nicolaidis, Kalypso. "Mutual Recognition of Regulatory Regimes: Some Lessons and Prospects." Paper prepared for OECD symposium on *Regulatory Reform and International Market Openness.* Paris, July 9-10, 1996.
- Nicolas, Florence. *Common Standards for Enterprises*. Luxembourg: Commission of the European Communities, 1988.
- Palda, Filip. (ed.). *Provincial Trade Wars: Why the Blockade Must End*. Vancouver: The Fraser Institute, 1994.

- Pelkmans, Jacques. "Removing Regulatory Access Barriers: The Case of Deep Integration." Paper prepared for the OECD Trade Committee meeting on February 15, 1996. (TD/TC (96)9).
- Perrone, Marissa A. "Fitting the Environmental Piece Into the Maastricht Puzzle." *The Environmental Law Reporter,* XXV, no. 4. April 1995.
- OECD, Regional Integration and the Multilateral Trading System. Paris: OECD, 1995.
- Rothery, Brian. What Maastricht Means for Business: Opportunities and Regulations in the EC Internal Market. Hampshire: Gower Publishing, 1993.
- Sun, Jeann-Mey and J. Pelkmans. "Regulatory Competition in the Single Market." *Journal of Common Market Studies*, 33:1. March 1995, pp. 67-89.
- Sykes, Alan O. "Strategies for Increasing Market Access Under Regulatory Heterogeneity." Paper prepared for OECD Trade Committee meeting on February 15, 1996. (TD/TC(96)8).
- Trebilcock, Michael and D. Schwanen (eds.). *Getting There: An Assessment of the Agreement on Internal Trade*. Toronto: CD Howe Institute, 1995.
- World Trade Organization. The Results of the Uruguay Round of Multilateral Negotiations: The Legal Texts. Geneva: WTO, 1995.
- World Trade Organization. *Trade Policy Review—European Union 1995*, vols. 1 & 2. Geneva, WTO, 1995.

INDUSTRY CANADA RESEARCH PUBLICATIONS

INDUSTRY CANADA WORKING PAPER SERIES

- No. 1 Economic Integration in North America: Trends in Foreign Direct Investment and the Top 1,000 Firms, Industry Canada, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis Staff including John Knubley, Marc Legault and P. Someshwar Rao, 1994.
- No. 2 Canadian-Based Multinationals: An Analysis of Activities and Performance, Industry Canada, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis Staff including P. Someshwar Rao, Marc Legault and Ashfaq Ahmad, 1994.
- No. 3 International R&D Spillovers Between Industries in Canada and the United States, Jeffrey I. Bernstein, Carleton University and National Bureau of Economic Research, under contract with Industry Canada, 1994.
- No. 4 **The Economic Impact of Mergers and Acquisitions on Corporations**, Gilles Mcdougall, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 5 Steppin' Out: An Analysis of Recent Graduates Into the Labour Market, Ross Finnie, School of Public Administration, Carleton University and Statistics Canada, 1995.
- No. 6 Measuring the Compliance Cost of Tax Expenditures: The Case of Research and Development Incentives, Sally Gunz, University of Waterloo, Alan Macnaughton, University of Waterloo, and Karen Wensley, Ernst & Young, Toronto, under contract with Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 7 Governance Structure, Corporate Decision-Making and Firm Performance in North America, P. Someshwar Rao and Clifton R. Lee-Sing, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1996.

- No. 8 Foreign Direct Investment and APEC Economic Integration, Ashfaq Ahmad, P. Someshwar Rao and Colleen Barnes, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 9 World Mandate Strategies for Canadian Subsidiaries, Julian Birkinshaw, Institute of International Business, Stockholm School of Economics, under contract with Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 10 **R&D Productivity Growth in Canadian Communications Equipment and Manufacturing**, Jeffrey I. Bernstein, Carleton University and National Bureau of Economic Research, under contract with Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 11 **Long-run Perspective on Canadian Regional Convergence**, Serge Coulombe, Department of Economics, University of Ottawa, and Frank C. Lee, Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 12 Implications of Technology and Imports on Employment and Wages in Canada, Frank C. Lee, Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 13 **The Development of Strategic Alliances in Canadian Industries: A Micro Analysis,** Sunder Magun, Applied International Economics, 1996.
- No. 14 **Employment Performance in the Knowledge-Based Economy**, Surendra Gera, Industry Canada, and Philippe Massé, Human Resources Development Canada, 1996.
- No. 15 **The Knowledge-Based Economy: Shifts in Industrial Output**, Surendra Gera, Industry Canada, and Kurt Mang, Department of Finance, 1997.
- No. 16 **Business Strategies of SMEs and Large Firms in Canada**, Gilles Mcdougall and David Swimmer, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1997.

62

- No. 17 Impact of China's Trade and Foreign Investment Reforms on the World Economy, Winnie Lam, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1997.
- No. 18 Regional Disparities in Canada: Characterization, Trends and Lessons for Economic Policy, Serge Coulombe, Department of Economics, University of Ottawa, 1997.
- No. 19 Inter-Industry and U.S. R&D Spillovers, Canadian Industrial Production and Productivity Growth, Jeffrey I. Bernstein, Carleton University and National Bureau of Economic Research, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.

INDUSTRY CANADA DISCUSSION PAPER SERIES

- No. 1 Multinationals as Agents of Change: Setting a New Canadian Policy on Foreign Direct Investment, Lorraine Eden, Carleton University, 1994.
- No. 2 **Technological Change and International Economic Institutions**, Sylvia Ostry, Centre for International Studies, University of Toronto, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 3 **Canadian Corporate Governance: Policy Options**, Ronald. J. Daniels, Faculty of Law, University of Toronto, and Randall Morck, Faculty of Business, University of Alberta, 1996.
- No. 4 Foreign Direct Investment and Market Framework Policies: Reducing Frictions in APEC Policies on Competition and Intellectual Property, Ronald Hirshhorn, 1996.
- No. 5 Industry Canada's Foreign Investment Research: Messages and Policy Implications, Ronald Hirshhorn, 1997.

No. 6 International Market Contestability and the New Issues at the World Trade Organization, Edward M. Graham, Institute for International Economics, Washington (DC), under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.

INDUSTRY CANADA OCCASIONAL PAPER SERIES

No. 1 Formal and Informal Investment Barriers in the G-7 Countries: The Country Chapters, Industry Canada, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis Staff including Ashfaq Ahmad, Colleen Barnes, John Knubley, Rosemary D. MacDonald and Christopher Wilkie, 1994.

> Formal and Informal Investment Barriers in the G-7 Countries: Summary and Conclusions, Industry Canada, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis Staff including Ashfaq Ahmad, Colleen Barnes and John Knubley, 1994.

- No. 2 Business Development Initiatives of Multinational Subsidiaries in Canada, Julian Birkinshaw, University of Western Ontario, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 3 **The Role of R&D Consortia in Technology Development**, Vinod Kumar, Research Centre for Technology Management, Carleton University, and Sunder Magun, Centre for Trade Policy and Law, University of Ottawa and Carleton University, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 4 **Gender Tracking in University Programs**, Sid Gilbert, University of Guelph, and Alan Pomfret, King's College, University of Western Ontario, 1995.
- No. 5 **Competitiveness: Concepts and Measures**, Donald G. McFetridge, Department of Economics, Carleton University, 1995.

- No. 6 Institutional Aspects of R&D Tax Incentives: The SR&ED Tax Credit, G. Bruce Doern, School of Public Administration, Carleton University, 1995.
- No. 7 **Competition Policy as a Dimension of Economic Policy: A Comparative Perspective**, Robert D. Anderson and S. Dev Khosla, Economics and International Affairs Branch, Bureau of Competition Policy, Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 8 Mechanisms and Practices for the Assessment of The Social and Cultural Implications of Science and Technology, Liora Salter, Osgoode Hall Law School, University of Toronto, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 9 Science and Technology: Perspectives for Public Policy, Donald G. McFetridge, Department of Economics, Carleton University, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 10 Endogenous Innovation and Growth: Implications for Canada, Pierre Fortin, Université du Québec à Montréal and the Canadian Institute for Advanced Research, and Elhanan Helpman, Tel Aviv University and the Canadian Institute for Advanced Research, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 11 **The University-Industry Relationship in Science and Technology**, Jérôme Doutriaux, University of Ottawa, and Margaret Barker, Meg Barker Consulting, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 12 **Technology and the Economy: A Review of Some Critical Relationships**, Michael Gibbons, University of Sussex, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 13 Management Skills Development in Canada, Keith Newton, Industry Canada, 1995.

- No. 14 The Human Factor in Firm's Performance: Management Strategies for Productivity and Competitiveness in the Knowledge-Based Economy, Keith Newton, Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 15 **Payroll Taxation and Employment: A Literature Survey**, Joni Baran, Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 16 Sustainable Development: Concepts, Measures, Market and Policy Failures at the Open Economy, Industry and Firm Levels, Philippe Crabbé, Institute for Research on the Environment and Economy, University of Ottawa, 1997.
- No. 17 Measuring Sustainable Development: A Review of Current Practice, Peter Hardi, Stephan Barg, and Tony Hodge, International Institute for Sustainable Development, 1997.
- No. 18 Reducing Regulatory Barriers to Trade: Lessons for Canada from the European Experience, Ramesh Chaitoo and Michael Hart, Center for Trade Policy and Law, Carleton University, 1997.

JOINT PUBLICATIONS

Capital Budgeting in the Public Sector, in collaboration with the John Deutsch Institute, Jack Mintz and Ross S. Preston eds., 1994.

Infrastructure and Competitiveness, in collaboration with the John Deutsch Institute, Jack Mintz and Ross S. Preston eds., 1994.

Getting the Green Light: Environmental Regulation and Investment in Canada, in collaboration with the C.D. Howe Institute, Jamie Benidickson, G. Bruce Doern and Nancy Olewiler, 1994.

To obtain copies of documents published under the *RESEARCH PUBLICATIONS PROGRAM*, please contact:

Publications Officer Micro-Economic Policy Analysis Industry Canada 5th Floor, West Tower 235 Queen Street Ottawa, Ontario, K1A 0H5

Telephone: (613) 952-5704 Fax: (613) 991-1261 E-Mail: fumerton.cheryl@ic.gc.ca